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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DENISE A. BANKS,
Plaintiff,
V. GaseNo. 07cv-01807(APM)

SONNY PERDUE! U.S.Secretary of

N e N T o N N N

Agriculture,
Defendant.
)
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Denise Bank&rought this action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
againstDefendantSecretary of th&J).S. Department of Agriculture (“USDASr “Defendant),
alleging among other thingghat she was discriminatorily removed from her Senior Executive
Service position while employed at USbased on her sex and radelaintiff's discrimination
claimssurvived summary judgment apdbceeded to trialAt trial, thejury agreedhatPlaintiff’s
sex was a motivating factor in her demot@returneda damageawardof $100,000 The jury,
however found in favor of USDA on Plaintiff's race discrimination claim

The jury’sverdict lies at the heart of the parties’ motitimstarenow beforethe court.In
a notionfiled under Rule 50 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedu8DA argues that the verdict
cannot be sustained and asks the court to enter judgment as a mawenasifavor on Plaintiff's

sexdiscrimination claim. Alternativg, Defendant seeks a new trial pursuant to Rule 59. Plaintiff,

! Pursuant to Rule 25(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procednescaurt substitutes the current Secretary of
Agricultureas the defendant in this case.
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on the other handnaintains that the verdishould be upheldnd, by her own motiorgeeksan
equitable award consisting minstatemento the Senior Executive Servid@ckpay, anda dean
employment ecord

For the reasons stated below, the court concludes(ihtdte jury had a reasonable basis
to findthatUSDA discriminated against Plaintdh the basis afexwhen it removed her from her
Senior Executive Servicgosition;(ii) USDA is not entitled to a new triagand (iii)) Plaintiff is
entitled toreinstatementio theSenior Executive Servica clean recordand back pay, albait an
amountless than she seekéccordingly, the court denies Defendant’s Motion for Judgmeat as
Matter of Law or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial, and grantgart Plaintiffs Amended
Motion for Reinstatement, Back Pay, and Clean Retord.

Il. DEFENDANT’'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW OR, IN
THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR A NEW TRIAL

A. Background
1. Factual Background
In January 2000, Plaintiff Denise Banks was demoted from her SenioutieeService
("SES”) position at USDA. Def.’s Mem. in Support of Its PendingtMor J as a Matter of Law
or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial, ECF No. 151 [hereinafter Béflot.], Ex. 1, ECF No. 151
1 [hereinafter Trial Tr.], at 3832 Specifically, Plaintiff was removed from her position as
Deputy Director of Employment in USDA's ffice of Civil Rights anddemoted to &6S15

position. Id. at 32-33, 3738, Def.’s Mot., Ex. 2, ECF No. 154 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. 2]; Def.’s

2The court apologizes to the parties, partidytar Plaintiff, for the inordinate amount of time that the Rule 50 motion
has been pending. No motion, let alone a-p@dtmotion, should take so long to resolve.

3 For convenience, the court cites tehibit 1 of Defendant’s Motion, which compiledl of the daily jury trial
transcripts and includesequential page numberirithe individual trial transcripts may be found in ECF Nos.—142
147.



Mot., Ex. 3 ECF No. 1513 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. 3seeMem. of Points & Authorities in Opp
to Pl.’s Am.Mot. for Reinstatement, Backpay, and Clean Record, ECF No. 1 &atter Def.’s
Opp’n], at 2-3. Plaintiff has remained at USDA workingl@sssenior GS15 positions ever since
her demotion,but she has never again occupied an SES positiSeePl’s Am. Mot. for
Reinstatement, Back Pay, and Clean Record, ECF No. 170 [hereindfteArRl Mot.], at 4;
Def.’s Opp’n at £8; Def.’s Notice of Filing Exs., ECF No. 175 [hereinafter Def.’SEXEX. MM,
ECF No. 17538 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. MM]

At the time relevant to this lawsuit, USDA’s Office of Civil Righwas directed by
Rosalind Gray. Trial Tr. at 430. Gray, in turn, supervised three depattals,id. at 431, two
of whom are central to this casélaintiff and Jeremy Wu In Februay 1999, Plaintiff began
working as Deputy Director for Employment and oversaw a staff of appately 50 peopleld.
at 209, 338, 431. Wu, an AsiarAmerican male, was Deputy Director for Systems and
Administration and oversaw a staff of approximasetypeople.ld. at 34, 21213, 46263; Def.’s
Answer to First Am. Compl., ECF No. IBereinafter Answer] 16 seeTrial Tr. at 16

Plaintiff and Wu were members of tB&S the highest caredevel position in the federal
government. Trial Tr. at3 Members of the SES are executives at various agencies, and the only
more senior positions in the federal government are presidappalintees See idat 200;cf. id.
at 530. In 1999, Banks was in her first year as a member of the SES, islasighobationary
period. Id. at 208, 294, 527 At the same timeWu was in his second year as a member of the
SES andad completed his probationary ter®ee idat 44-45.

All SESmembers at USDA are subject to performance evaluations by theirisopeBee

id. at 466-62 539. The supervisor’s evaluation is in tureviewed by the Performance Review

4 Citations to Plaintiffs Amended Motion are to the page bera electronically generated by CM/ECF.
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Board (“PRB” or “Board”), a collection of SES officials from othertpaf USDA. See idat 295,
461-62see also idat 461 (testimony from Gray explaigithatPRB rating boards are evaluation
peerreview boards that are set up throughout all of the departments ohgwrérto evaluate
[SES] members”).

In November 1999, Gray gave both Plaintiff and Wu “unsatisfact@efformance
appraisals and recommaed that they be terminatébdm the SES Def.’s Ex. 2; Def.’s Mot., Ex.
4, ECF No. 154 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. 4]. The appraisals for both executieesainedfour
performancéelements’ or review criteria (1) development and support of programs and policy;
(2) delivery of programs and/or functions; (3) management of resoame£) civil rights. Id.
For each executive, three of the four elements were considered “crisealid;, Trial Tr. at 41,
459-60 althoughdifferent elements were designated as critical for each executive, according to
his or herrespective job dutieseeTrial Tr. at 45860, 46566. “Management of resourceszas
critical for Wu because he managed the budget, contracting, and othgcedassues in the Office
of Civil Rights. SeeTrial Tr. at 464-65. “Development and support of programs and pbhegs
critical for Plaintiff, but not Wu, because Plaintiffeveloped programs and policielsl. at 458-
59, 46566. Gray gave Plaintiff a “does not meet fully successful” in twanetds:
(1) development and support of programs and policy @)ddelivery of programs and/or
functions. Def.’s Ex. 2. Gray gave Vdidoes not meet fully successful” for one element: delivery
of programs and/or functions. Def.’s Ex. 4. Under the rating sitedee assessments gave each
executive a summary rating of “unsatisfactory.” Def.’'s ExDef.’s Ex. 4;seeTrial Tr. at 4@.
Gray recommended that both be removed from the $¥&.s Ex. 2; Def.’s Ex. 4seeTrial Tr.

at 532-33. In late 1999Sally Thompson, Acting Assistant Secretary for Administratieviewed



and signeaff on Plaintiff's and Wu’sperformance apprailsa Trial Tr. at 33180, 515; Def.’s
Mot. at 4-5; Def.’s Ex. 2; Def.’s Ex. 4seeTrial Tr. at 536-37.

The appraisals then went to tARB for review Def.’s Mot. at 4seeTrial Tr. at 45527
28. In December 1999, Plaintiff submitted an approximateklpd@e rebuttal of Gray’s appraisal
to the PRB. Trial Tr. & 181. The PRB reviewed Plaintiff's rebuttal and had sadwitional
guestions for Gray, whon turn,submitted a supplemental stateme8ee d. at 182.

Upon review of a supervisor’s evaluation and recommendation, the $3g8siits own
summary ratingeither concurring with or changing the supervisor’s rati@§.id. at42,532-34.
For Wu, the PRB changed the summary rating to “minimally satisfactad/tecommended that
Wu be reassignedSeed.; Def.’s Ex. 4. Wu’s appraisal includesittencomments from the PRB
that ‘{t] he designation of element #2 as critical not clear to the executive. Thé ¢aRBthe
executive the benefit of the doubt and changed the designation to mahctiitus changing the
summary rating for Mr. Wu to Minimally Satisfactory.” Def.’s Ex. But for Plaintiff, the PRB
concurred with Gray’s summary rating and recommended Plaintiffevainfrom the SES See
Trial Tr. at 29596 Def.’s Ex. 2. Plaintiff's appraisatioes not contaiany writtencomments See
Def.’s Ex. 2. On January 10, 200@harles RawlsChairman of the PREigned both Plaintiff's
and Wu’s appraisals on behalf of the PREeeDef.’s Ex. 2; Def.’s Ex. 4.

Beforefinal action could be taken on WWu departed for an SES position withine
Department of EnergySeeTrial Tr. at528,530. The chair of the PRB told Gray that when Wu
appeared before the PRB, Waquested that hiSES status be retained becausbdsaccepted a
position at the Bpartment oEnergyand planned to transferd. at 530. He furthertold Gray that

the PRBwould not proceed with Wu’'s evaluation if Gray declinedstdmit supplemental



materials to thd®RB. Id. Graydid not submit any additional materials to the PRB. Wu
transferred to the Department of Energy around January ZB8®idat 528.

Plaintiff's appraisal however,was forwarded to theSecretary of Agriculture, Dan
Glickman, for a final rating and approvdt. at 2%—9%. On January 19, 2000, Glickman issued
a final rating of “unsatisfactory” for Plaintiff and signed the perfance appraisalld. Wu's
appraisatioes not contain Glianan’s signatureSeeDef.’s Ex. 4.

After Glickman signed Plaintiff's performance appraisal, it veawérded to Paul Fiddick,
who hadjoined USDA in or around November 1999 drattireplaced Thompson as the Assistant
Secretary for AdministrationTrial Tr. at 30+03. Fiddick sat on the PRB that fall, including the
PRB panel that reviewed Plaintiff's performan&ee idat 54546. Fiddick sent Plaintiff a letter
on January 24, 2000, informing her of her demotion. Def.’s Ex. 3. Tike $tates as ghreason
for her demotiontunsatisfactory performance during her probationary periottl. At trial,
Fiddick testified that he didiot remember the PRB proceedings evaluating Plair@éeTrial Tr.
at 546. He alsosaid thatwhen he sent the demotion letter to Plaintiff, he was just affgrthe
action of an independent body, the PR&. at 54142. Effective January 29, 200BJaintiff was
assigned to a G35 position as Special Assistant to the Deputy Director fagiamgsin the Office
of Civil Rights Def.’s Ex. 3.

After her demotion, Plaintiff prepared a rebuttal to Gray’s suppieat statement and gave
it to Fiddick. Trial Tr. at 18586, 547;seePl.’s Mem. in Opp’n to Def.’s Mots. for. &s a Matter
of Law, ECF No. 152 [hereinafter Pl.’s Opp’n], Ex. 4, ECF No.-45Ziddicktestified that his
calendar shows that he held three meetinddarch, April, and June 200@Q;henhe assumes he
discussedher request for reconsideratiorseeTrial Tr. at 54%48; see also idat 517 (Gray

testimony thatFiddick said thathe hadmet with Plaintiff and her attorndgllowing the PRBS



decision)jd. at 55960 (Plaintiff testimony that she metth Fiddick in late 1999 and early 2000).
Fiddick ultimately deniedPlaintiff's request.Cf. id. at 546-47.
2. Procedural History

Plaintiff fled an EEO complaint regarding her demotion inrkaby 2000. SeeAnswer
18. In February 2007, USDA issued a final agency decision upholding Plaialginotion. Cf.

id. Plaintiff appealed, and the EEOC's Office of Fed®perations affrmed USDA’s decision.
Am. Compl, ECF No. 151 8;seeAnswer { 8.

Plaintiff filed a Complaint in this court in October 2007, whicle simended in August
2008. See generalhlm. Compl. In her fivecount Amended Complaint, Plaintifflagjed that
USDA discriminated against her on the basis of race, sex, andsagad ] 5357. The parties
crossmoved for summary judgment, and in March 2ab@nChief Judge Roberts granted and
denied those motions in part. Judge Roberts granted USDA'’s metiorP&intiff’'s hostile work
environment claims as well as several of her retaliation claimsllowted Plaintiff's race, age,
and sex discrimination dfas and other retaliation claims to proce&ke Banks v. VilsackR32
F. Supp. 2d 185 (D.D.C. 2013pn the eve of trial, the court granted Plaintiff's motion to amend
her complaint to include only claims that she was discriminateastgan the basis of race and
sex when she was removed from 8€Sin 2000. See Banks v. VilsacR58 F.Supp. 2d 78, 81
n.1 (D.D.C. 2013)see alsaVinute Order, June 17, 2013.

Plaintiff's sexand race discrimination claims were trigeforea jury in August 2013. At
three points during triat-at the close of Plaintiff's casa-chief, after the close of its own case,
and at the close of Plaintiff's rebuttal casgd SDA moved for judgment as a matter of law under
Rule 50(a).SeeTrial Tr. at372-82 55154, 56163. At each point, Judge Roberts reserved ruling

on the motion.ld. at 382, 553563



At the close of evidenge€ludge Roberts instructed the jurytamo theories of intentional
discrimination. See generallid. at 575-77, 60115. HeinstructedhatPlaintiff couldshoweither
that her sex was @eterminativefactor in her removal frorthe SES, or that her sex wasare
motivating factor in USDA'’s decision. See Final Instructions, ECF No. 124 [hereinafter
Instructions], at 1413. The court furtheexplained that under tHatter, “mixed-motive’ theory,
the jury could only award Plaintiff damagedJSDA failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that it would have made the same decisidemote Plaintifeven ifher sex haglayed
no rolein the decision.See idat 15.

The jury returned a verdict that was favorable for Plaintiff in plartling that USDA
removed Plaintiff from her SES position because of intentiosafichination based on heex
but not on the basis of her rackria Tr. at 681 see alsd/erdict Form, ECF No. 123mportantly,
in finding in favor of Plaintiff on her claim of sex discrimir@tj the jury did not conclude that
Plaintiff would have been demotéddt for her sex but instead found thaexwas amotivating
factor in Plaintiff's demotion andhat USDA had not showit would have otherwise demoted
Plaintiff. SeeVerdict Form. The jury awarded Plaintiff $100,000 in damagksk.

USDA thenmoved for judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(bh dhne alternative,
for a new trial under Rule 59rial Tr. at 681—85; Def.’s Mot.;see alsdef.’s Oral Mot.for Rule
50(a) and 50(b), ECF No. 153hat motion is now before the court.

B. Discussion

Defendant’'sMotion advances two bases for undoing jing’s verdict. First, under
Rule50, Defendant contends that no reasonable jury could have conclodedhi evidence
presented that Plaintiff'sexwas a motivating factor in her demotiofo support that assertion,

Defendant methodically identifiesach potential individual discriminatetfRosalind Gray, Sally



Thompson, Dan Glickman, and Paul Fiddie&nd explains why the evidence does not evince any
discriminatory intent on #t individuals part. SeeDef.’s Mot. at 1522. Moreover,Defendant
also dsputes that the jurgould have reasonablgoncluded that the PRB discriminated against
Plaintiff. See idat 22—28. Defendanthereforeasks the court to vacate the judgment in favor of
Plaintiff on her sex discrimination claiand enter judgment in itavor as a matter of lawSee

id. at 1.

In the dternative, Defendant contends that a new trial is warranted undee5Rdor two
reasons: (1) Plaintiff gave Defendant no-pii@l notice of her theory that the PRB discriminated
against her and ised it for the first time midrial, thus constituting prejudicial “unfair surprise,”
and (2) the jury’s verdias internally inconsistentSee idat 3, 29-31 With respect to the latter
ground, Defendant also argues that if the court were to enigmgnt on the jury’s verdict and
decline to order a new trial, the court should at least do so “basedjarytedinding that gender
was a mere motivating but natdleterminative cause and, thus, award Plaintiff no compensatory
damages or equitable refli” 1d. at 29.

The courtstarts with Defendant’'s Rule 50 argument and then considers the ground
asserted foanew trial under Rule 59.

1. Rule 50
a. Legal standard

The standard for considering a motion under Rule 50 “mirrors” the stafolasdmmary
judgment under Rule 56Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 25(1986). “[T]he
inquiry under each is the same: whether the evidence presents a duligagneement to require
submission to a jury or whether it is so esded hat one party must prevail as a matter of law.”

Id. at 25152. Judgment as a matter of law “is highly disfavored becaus&utes upon the



rightful province of the jury Breeden v. Novartis Pharm. Coy646 F.3d 43, 53 (D.C. Cir. 2011)
(internal gwtation marks omitted). It is proper only if “the codirids that a reasonable jury
would not have a legally sufficient evidentiary basis to foxtithe nonmoving party.ld. (quoting
Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1)A court evaluating a motion for judgment as a matter of law, upoewevi
of the entire record, “must draw all reasonable inferencesvior faf the nonmoving party,
and. . .may not make credibility determinations or weigh the evidendeekves v. Sanders
Plumbing Prods 530 U.S. 133, 150 (200(ee alsareneyck v. Omni Shoreham Hote$5 F.3d
1139, 1149 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (citifgeevestandard).
b. The merits

The question posed by Defendant’s Motion for Judgment as a Méattaxois whether
Plaintiff presented sufficient evidence at trial to alloweasonable jury toonclude that hesex
motivatedUSDA'’s decision todemote her Title VII “provides thatan unlawful employment
practice is established when . . . sex . . . wam#fvating factorfor any employment practicé.
Poncev. Billington 679 F.3d 840844(D.C. Cir. 2012)quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2006&m)). Under
this theory of discrimination, also known as the “mbradtive” standard, a plaintifheed not
prove that unlawful discrimination was the determinative facobutfor cause, othe adverse
employment action; rather, skban prevailon a lesser showing that discriminatory aninuas
merely a motivatindactor forthe adverse actionld. Importantly, howeverin a mixedmotive
case,if the defendant demonstrates that it “would have taken the same action bsémea of the
impermissible motivating factor,” theherelief available to the plaintifis limited to declaratory
relief, certain injunctive relief, and certain fees amubts. Id. (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2000e

5(9)(2)(B). Thus, in the mixednotive context a defendant can avoid an award of money
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damages by showing it would have taken the adverse action againshployee for a non
discriminatory reason.

Although the “but for” and “mixedmotive” theories differ, the meansf proving
discriminatory intentarethe same.“As with but-for causation, a plaintiff can use evidence of
pretext and theMcDonnell Douglasframework to prove a mixethotive case.” Id. To
demonstate pretext, a plaintiff may present evidence that similarlyatetd employees of a
different classreceived more favorable treatmer8ee Royall v. Nat'l Ass’n of Letter Carriers,
AFL-CIO, 548 F.3d 137, 145 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (citiBgady v. Ofice of Sergeant at Arm&20
F.3d 490,495 (D.C. Cir. 2008). A similarly situated employee is one who is charged with an
offense of comparable seriousness and whose relevant employmenstanmces are the same as
the plaintiff's in all relevant respectSee Wheeler v. Georgetown Univ. Ho§12 F.3d. 1109,
1115-14D.C. Cir. 2016) Alternatively, a plaintiff “may attempt to demonstrate that the eygl
is makirg up or lying about the underlying facts that formed the predicate fanipdoyment
decision.” Brady, 520 F.3d at 495.An employee cannot, however, prove discrimination by
showing that ta employer was merely mistaken about the predicate for the adatien.Rather,
where aremployer’s stated belief “is reasonalvidight of the evidence, . .there ordinarilyis no
basis for permitting a jury to conclude that the employeringlabout the underlying factsld.;
see alsdseorge v. Leavift407F.3d 405, 415 (D.CCir. 2005) ([A]n employer’s action may be
justified by a reasonable belief in the validity of the reaseargéven though that reason may turn
out to be false.”) So, as relevant here, an employee demoted for inferior work performanmod ca
prove discrimination by showing that her performance in fact met atdsidinstead, she must

prove that it was unreasonable for her employer to reach such a subjesgs&n@ent.
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In this casePlaintiff attempted to show pretext in two ways. First, she urgegutly to
find pretext based omow Defendant treated her case relative to WuSecond,Plaintiff
vigorously argued that Gray could not have reasonably believed thatdnk performane
warranted the “unsatisfactory” rating that led to her demotion. Foresons stated below, a
reasonable jury could have found the evidgmesentegupporteither approach.

i. Comparator evidence

For a female employee to be similarly situated to a male countergdhdf tlae relevant
aspects of her employment situation” must be “nearly identicdlasetof the male employee.”
Holbrook v. Renpl96 F.3d 255, 261 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (internal quotamarks omitted). “Factors
that bear on whether someone is an appropriate comparator include taatgiofithe plaintiff's
and the putative comparator’s job and job duties, whether they weiplidsd by the same
supervisor, and, in cases involgidiscipline, the similarity of their offensesSee Burley v. Nat'l
Passenger Rail Corp801 F.3d 290, 301 (D.C. Cir. 2015). Whether another employee is symilarl
situated is usually a question of fact for the juBee WheeleB812 F.3d at 1116.

Here the jury could have found that Wu and Plaintiff were similarlyatéd based on the
fact that (i) both Plaintiff and Wu were members of the SE®e highest career position in the
federal government; (ipoth were deputy directors in USDA'’s Offioé Civil Rights; (iii) both
shared the same supervisor, Gray, who was the director of the Officald®ights; and (iv) both
received an unsatisfactory rating for poor work performance fromy @1d were recommended
for removal from the SES at the satimee. Cf.id. at 1116-19 (finding evidence sufficient to treat
plaintiff and coworkers as comparators where they worked in the samenpa@ble unitand
there was a genuine issue as to whether they were subject to trees#siosn makerand whether

theyengaged in misconduct of comparable seriousness). To be sure, thereeatkfferences
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between Plaintiff and Wu, but those differences are not significamtigh to render them
insufficient comparatoras a matter of law For instance, Plaintiff as in her probationary year
in the SESt the time oherunsatisfactory ratinggnd Wu was not. But that difference is mitigated
by the fact that Wu was only in his second year of serving in the SE®llaas evidence that
Plaintiff and Wu were evaluated in the same manner regardless ofehieiity in the SES.See
Trial Tr. at 44-45, 52728. Plaintiff and Wu also had different job duties because thalifferent
sections. The jury, however, reasonably could have discounted teat it and placed greater
weight on the fact that Plaintiff and Wu shared the same rank andveog in the same situation:
they were before th®RB, having been recommended by their common superior, Gray, for
removal from the SE®r poor work performanceUltimately, these modest differences between
Plaintiff and Wu do not warrant disturbing the jury’s verdict.

USDA'’s posttrial contention that Wu and Plaintiff cannot be considered comparators as a
matter of law rests largely not on some legal or posivesed distinction, but rather dhe
employees'treatment by the PRB.SeeDef.’s Mot. at 2527. USDA asserts that the Board
articulated a legitimate reason for treating Plaintiff and Wu difteremamely, that Plaintiff was
aware of all of her criticgberformanceelements and Wu was notd. at 25. For that reason,
USDA argues, the two are not similarly situatdd. But USDA cannot bootstrap its claimed
nondiscriminatory reason for treating Plaintiff and Wu diffelseimto an argument that Plairtif
and Wu are not comparators. The question whether two employees aadssilated is distinct
from whether their different treatment gives rise to an inference afidisation. Cf. Wheeler
812 F.3d at 111516 (failing to list the actions taken or not taken against the proposgehcator

as a factor bearing on whether another employee is an appropriate comparator).
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Moreover, even if Wu'professed ignorance of one of bidtical performance elements
could be considered a potential distinguighfactor,seeDef.’s Mot. at 27 the juryreasonably
could have rejected.itThere was sufficient evidence presented at trial for the jury belibye
Wu'’s claimed obliviousnessGray testified that Wu received a “package” when he took the job
as deputy director and that, upon receipt of the package, “not only digrhefsand accept his
position, his job description, but he also accepted his performgarmtasds at that time.” Trial
Tr. at 523. Thus, from Gray’s testimony, the jury could find that Wladghdid have knowledge
of his critical performance elements and that his later claim ofagwce before the PRB was not
credible. Additionally, Wu was in the SES for a year longer thamtifavhen they received
negative performance apprasaibm Gray. See idat 4445. From that fact the jury reasonably
could have found it implausible that Wu, a letige employee of the federal governmesate id.
at 462, would not have known the full scope of his job duties andneibjlties, see id.at 619
(arguing in closing that Wu’'s asserted lack of knowledge was not cradibight of his
experience). Ad, dthough USDA alludes to the difference in Plaintiffs and Wi(cstical
elements” as a distinguishing factor between them, Def.’s M@6,ate jury readily could have
found that difference to be immaterial when the key question presentednwa¥wwas treated
differently from Plaintiff when both were adjudged by Gray toehperformed unsatisfactorily
with regard to theirespectivgob responsibilities and recommended for removal from the SES.
In the end, it is the jury’s province to weigh the evidence. ViewingaWidence in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff here, the jury reasonably could havendothat Wu and Plaintiff were
similarly situated.

Finally, USDA argues that, even if Plaintiff and Wu can be considered azatops,

“Plaintiff offered no basis for a reasonable juror to questienbibna fides of the Board’s stated
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reason” for treating Wu differently than Plaintifid. at 28. In other words, USDA insists that the
Board’s nondiscriminatory reason for treating Plaintiff desfatty is not evidence of pretext. As
discussed, the reason the Board offered for not recommending Wwsalenas that Wu did not
know thatone of his performance elements wl@emecritical. The sole evidence presented by
USDA of that rationale are typed comments at the conclusion of Wuferpance appraisal
which read: “The designation of element #2 as critical not clear to the exectithe [Board]
gave the executive the benefit of the doubt and changed the designation iicagnihus
changing the summary rating for Mr. Wu to minimally satisfactorygf.® Ex. 4 at 4see also
Trial Tr. at 3637, 41425 The jury was not, hower, required to take the comments on Wu’s
performance appraisal as gospel. As already discussed, a reasormabdeyld have rejected
Wu's professed ignorance of his critical elements; correlativelgaaonable juror could have
found that the PRB’slaimed reliance on Wu’s dubious explanation itself to be incrediSke
Conboy v. Bureau of Nat'l Affairs, Incl5 F.3d 1159 (tbl.), 1993 WL 524001, at *3 (D.C. Cir.
1993) (“Conboy is correct when he argues that the factfinder mayhneimployer’s gxanation
sufficiently incredible to permit an inference of discriminatipncf. Reeves530 U.S. at 14
(“Proof that the defendant’s explanation is unworthy of credencis probative of intentional
discrimination, andt may be quite persuasive. In appropriate circumstances, the [jury] can
reasonably infer from the falsity of the explanation that the graplis dissembling to cover up a
discriminatory purpose.”ditation omitted)). Indeed, Plaintiff made that precise argumetfteto
jury. Trial Tr. at 627 (arguing that the Board'’s rationale for treafitgand Plaintiff differently

“lo]n its face. . .can’t be believed”).

5 Judge Roberts excluded USDA's proposed witness from the PRB, Charles itaalss€) SDA disclosed his name
too late. See Banks v. VilsacR92 F.R.D. 158 (D.D.C. 2013As a consequence, USDA offered no testignfsom
a member of the PRB about the Board’s decisnaking.
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Moreover, the PRB’s formulation of the reason for the disparateteeaitself could have
planted seeds of doulst the jurors’ minds. Giving Wu “the benefit of the doubt” is the kind of
subjective explanation that could have caused a reasonable juror tomtestveracity of the
Board’s explanationSee Aka v. Wash. Hosp. Ctt56 F.3d 1284, 1298 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (noting
that “courts traditionally treat explanations that rely heavily onjesttive considerations with
caution”). Plaintiff urged the jury to draw that very conclusidmial Tr. at 662 (“[Wu] got, as
they said, the benefit of the doubt; Ms. Bagktno benefit whatsoever.”). At bottom, the question
whether USDA acted with discriminatory intent lies within the proiaf the jurysee Lapera v.
Fed Natl Mortg. Ass’n 210 F.Supp. 3d 164, 184 (D.D.C. 2016), and a reasonable jury helice co
have concluded that the PRB’s proffered explanation for treating\d'a favorably was pretext.
The court sees no reason to seegudss the jury’s decisiemaking in this case.

ii. Gray's performance review and Fiddick's refusal to
reconsider

Plaintiff's theory of discrimination was not confined to the PREBased on the evidence
presented at trial, the jugtsocould havecreditedseveral other theories of pretext in reaching its
conclusion thaPlaintiff's sexmotivated USDA'’s decision. The court $tawith Gray. There was
sufficient evidence presented at trial for a reasonable jury to HatdGray’'s stated reason for
recommending Plaintiffs demotiomvas falseor was patently unreasonapland that the
appraisal—uponvhich the PRB’s recommendati@md Fiddick’s decision was base@vas the
product ofdiscrimination. Gray recommended Plaintiff's removal due to her edlggpor
performance.See generallpef.’s Ex. 2. The jury however,heard evidencéhat, if believed,
would cast doubt on Gray’s credibility and the bona fides of her sams@$ of Plaintiff. For
instance Plaintiff presented testimony from one of her seelendl subordinates in the USDA

Office of Civil Rights, who stated that he had worked with about 50 eanghe agency “who
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had come or gone or who were still there who were absolutely incompetenitg Brfaintiff, and
that he was therefore “stunned” by her demotion. Trial T362t 368;see also idat 3@ (noting
that in his 130 14 years in the Office, he had never saayone demoted other than Plaintiff).
He further testified that Plaintiff was “the first Seceande Supervisor [he] had. .in [his] time
there, ever, who knew Civil Rights,”id. at 368, and describecher as “analytical,” “very
professional,” “hand®n,” “readily accessible,” and “supportived. at 363. Moreover o every
contention by USDA at trial that Plaintiff underperformed in jodx, Plaintiff provided rebuttal
evidence For example, as to Gray’s assertion that there were approximategad@ in which
decisions wererafted buthot forwarded tderoffice for signatureseeDef.’s Ex. 2 at 3, Plaintiff
testified that many of those cases were at earlier stages and therefore were niatr réagy's
review, Trial Tr. at 135, 172.Similarly, to rebut Gray'sassistant’sclaims that Plaintiffiwas
difficult to locate during office hourseeTrial Tr. at 396-98 Plaintiff presented evidence from
her special assistant that she worked long handswas availabled. at 39-30Q 335-36. It was
up to the jury to resolve these factual dispusesl they reasonably could have found in Plaintiff's
favor.

USDA emphasizes that the question is not whether Plaintiff lacpeaformed poorly, but
whetherthe employer honestly and reasonably believed she performed pbeflys Mot. at 16
17;Def.’s Reply Mem. in Supp. of Mots. for J. as a Matter of Lawrothe Alternative, for a New
Trial, ECF No. 154 [hereinafter Def.’s Reply], 21-22. Thus,even if Plaintiff created a jury
guestion as to whether the performance review was accWaB arguesshefailed to present
sufficient evidence casting doubt on the sincerity of Gray’s biliefaintiff's poor performance.
Def.’s Mot. at 17 Contray to USDA'’s assertiohowever,and as discussed immediately above,

Plaintiff did present sufficient evidend® cast doubtupon Gray's belief that Plaintiff was
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performing poorlyand it went beyon@laintiff's own testimony Thus, this case standsdontrast
to cases in which the parties do not contest the facts about how an indmadoamed and only
take issue with a subjective appraisal based on largely uncontesteddad®oyall 548 F.3d at
146 (“Given the consistent testimony by severabdrafficers that they received complaints about
[plaintiff's] work and the undisputed evidence that at least two égxnents for which he was
responsible were late*which “alone could have been sufficient nondiscriminatory grodmds
terminatifon]—"a reasonable jury could not find that the Union’s officers were lying,hress
that the Union’sstated belief about the underlying facts [wa]s [un]reasonableght of the
evidence.”(fourth alteration in originaljquotingBrady, 520 F.3d at 495)Watehouse v. District
of Columbia 298 F.3d 989, 995 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (“Because [plaintiff] did not contrayvemel in
fact admitted—many of the deficiencies the defendants cited concerning her performere
failed to establish that her ‘employer’s proffered explanation [was]ouhy of credence.”
(secondhlteration in original) (quotineeves530 U.S. at 143))Accordingly, if the jury credited
Plaintiff's evidence oveGrays testimonythen the juryvould have haa basis to find thakray’s
negativeperformance evaluation of Plaintifas a pretexior sexdiscrimination. Cf. George 407
F.3dat415-16

And then there i§iddick. Fiddick sat on thé®RB that considered both Plaintiff's and
Wu's performance appraisals. Trial Tr. at 54B. Although the Board did not ultimately demote
Wau, it did recommend that Plaintiff be demoted, and Fiddick then executedehision.See id.
at 44-46; cf. id. at 538-42. Plaintiff asked Fiddick to reconsideBpecifically, dter Plaintiff
received notice of her demotion, she prepared a rebuttal statement aacedsdtivo Fiddick, in
which she addressed the allegations of her poor performance. Pl.’s Bpph,ECF No. 152.

Fiddick reviewed his material, yetdenied her request for reconsiderati®eeTrial Tr. at 546-
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48. For the same reasons that the jury could have doubted the PRB&rguiodikplanation for
Plaintiff's demotion,the jury could haveuestionedriddick’s story. The jury could have held
Fiddick accountable fazuriouslygiving Wu the “benefit of the doubtfut not extendingimilar
benefit to Plaintiff either before the PRB or during the reconsideration proddamitiff pressed
the jury to reach thatvery conclusion Id. at 622 663-62 Moreover, Plaintiff questioned
Fiddick’s credibility because he could not recall many of the facts swtmy Plaintiff's
demotion.Id. at 62; see also idat 627(arguingthat Fiddick “took refuge in a long period of time
and in a large lack of memory to deny that he had involvementsicaise”). It was for the jury
to decide whether Fiddick’s lapses in memory were innocent, demse of discriminatory
animus. In short, there wasi@@nce regarding Fiddick’s actions from which the jury could infer
that Plaintiffssexwas a motivating factor in her demotion.

USDA attempts to shodtircuit scrutiny of Fiddick’s condudity arguing thahis refusal to
reconsider Plaintiff's demotiois not at issue in this caseSeeDef.’s Reply atl0, 14-15 But
Fiddick’s actions played a prominent role at trial, and Plaintgftiad in closing, without drawing
an objection, that the jury could infer discrimination from ks inaction. Trial. Trat622 see
also id.at 660 (assertinghatthe “real deisionmakerswere the Performance Review Board and
Mr. FiddicK’). There issimply no goodreasorfor this court to ignore facts that were presented to
the jury in deciding whether to sustain its verdict

Lastly, USDA appears to argue that even if there were sufficient evidence for a reasonabl
jury to find that Plaintiff's sexmotivatedUSDA'’s decision to removierfrom the SES, the jury
couldnothave reasonably concluded thiDA failed to meet its burden showingthat itwould
have removed Plaintiff from the SE®yway. See Ponce679 F.3d at 8445. The court rejects

this argument. The same evidence offered by Plaintiff to shanetextis relevant to the question
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whether she would have beg@motedanyway See idat844. The jury here obviously weighed
that evidence carefulyit found that Plaintiff's evidence was strong enough to establishexe
as a motivating factor for her demotion, Imat so strong as to constitute a determinative factor.
At this juncture, lhe court’s role is confined to verifying that the jury’s verdict was tat a
reasonable jurgould have reached.Cf. Bowie v. Maddgx540 F. Supp. 2d 204, 208 (D.D.C.
2008). Because the evidence was not so-sided in favor of USDA so as to make the jury’s
verdict unreasonable, the court decline®verridethe jury’s verdict. Defendant’s Motion for
Judgment as a Matter of Law is denied.
2. Rule 59
a. Legal standard

The court turns now to USDA's alternative argument that a new tnahisanted under
Rule 59. SeeDef.’s Mot. at3, 29. Rule 59 allows a court to grant a new trial after a jury verdict
“for any reason for which a new trial has heretofore been granted in an aictawm in federal
court” Fed. R. Civ. P. 5@)(1). “The authority to grant a new ali. . .is confided almost entirely
to the exercise of discretion on the part of the trial couQueen v. Schult810 F.R.D. 10, 21
(D.D.C. 2015) (alteration in original) (quotidglied Chem. Corp. v. Daiflon, Inc449 U.S. 33,
36 (1980)).“A new trial should be granted only where the court is convincedhbatity verdict
was a seriously erroneous result and where denial of the motion willireawclear miscarriage
of justice.” Lee v. District of Columbial9 F. Supp. 3d 281, 286 (D.D.C. 2015) (internal quotation

marks omitted).
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b. The merits
In this case, USDA argues it is entitled to a new trial on $ejgarate grounds: unfair
surprise and an inconsistent jury verdict. The cbeginswith the claim of unfair surprise.

i. Unfair surprise

“A party seeking a new trial on the grounds of unfair surprise must shatvt was
deprived of a fair hearqhnand demonstrate ‘reasonably genuine surprise, which necessasily w
inconsistent with substantial justice and which resulted in aptegldice.” Hancock vWash
Hosp. Ctr, 13F. Supp. 3d 1, 9 (D.D.C. 201&uotingSedywick v. Giant Food, In¢110 F.R.D.
175 176-77(D.D.C. 1986)). Here,USDA assertshat it was caught off guard wh, for the first
time at trial, Plaintiff arguedthat thePRB discriminated againgter. Def.’s Mot. at 2930. As
proof of surprise, USDArimarily points to (1) Plaintiffs amendedcomplaint, which lacks any
mention of the PRB(2) herinitial disclosureswhich do notist anyone on the PRBs aperson
“likely to have discoverable information,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(l()fAand(3) her respons&
an interrogatorythat askedher to identify all potential withessesand facts surroundingher
demotionwhich does nomentionthe Board SeeDef.’s Mot.at 5-7, 24, 29 see alsdef.'s Mot.,
Ex.5, ECF No. 15%5; Def’s Mot., Ex. 6, ECF No. 15&. As a consequence of these omissions,
USDA claimsthatit was unable to prepare and present evidence to atbual Plaintiff's new
theoryabout the PRBDef.’s Mot. at 29-30.

Although Plaintiff unquestionablyould have done more to make known that she would
ultimately arguehat thePRB discriminated against het)SDA cannot reasonably claim that it
was “genuine[ly] surpris€doy that contentioat trial Seed. at 29. While it is true that Plaintiff's
pleading does not explicitly identify the Board as a discriminater Amended Complairgave

Defendant “fair notice’ that the PRB’s decisiomaking would be relevant to Plaintiff's
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discrimination claims.SeeBell Atl. Corp. v.Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (noting that the
purpose of Rle 8(a)(2) is to “give the dendant fair notice of what the . claimis and the grounds
upon which it rests{alteration in originalquotingConley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 47 (195)))
Specifically, he Amended Complaint made clear tHakintiff would attempt to prove
discrimination based on thdisparate treatment betenher and Wu SeeAm. Compl. § 16.
USDA, of course, knew that tHeRB gave Wu “the benefit of the doubt,” but displayed no such
goodwill towards Plaintiff. Thus,there can be littleguestionthat Defendanhad noticethat the
PRB’s decisiormaking wauld be a central feature of Plaintiff's case.

Additional facts weigh against USDA'’s claimed unfair surpriseth& summary judgment
stage, USDA expresshgecognized that Plaintiff would be pointingttte PRB as a discriminator.
In a footnote in it®pening brief, USDA wrote: Plaintiff alleges that the fact that the Performance
Review Board did not remove the Asian male from SES shows thae#sons for Plaintiff's
removal were pretexor unlawful discrimination. In doing so, Plaintiff adds yetother set of
decisionmakers to the list of actors who she claims discriminated agla@rsbn the basis
of . ..sex” SeeDef.’s Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 38, Defem. of Points & Authoritiesn
Supp.of Mot. for Summ. J. ECF No. 382, at 6 n.1(citation omitted) That passage is a clear
acknowledgment by USDA that Plaintifould be using the PRB’s actions to make out her
discrimination claims

Moreover,USDA anticipated thaat trial it would need to rebut Plaintiff's contention that
the PHB discriminated against her. USDRigsignate@harles Rawls-the Chairmarof the Board
at the time th@RBrecommended removal &laintiff from the SES-asa witness in itfkevised
Pretrial Statement.SeeDef.’s Revised Pretrial Statement, ECF No. 91, aR8wls was to testify

about the Board evaluation process and explie considerations used by the 1999 PRB that
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reviewed and approved of Ms. Banks’s unsatisfactory rating and rémowathe SES anthat
reviewed Gray'’s decisions regarding Mr. Wu’'s FY 1999 performance agdgrdgaRawls never
testified, however, because Judge Roberts ruleduB8&A had disclosed sinametoo late—a
mereeight days before trialSee Banks v. VilsackR92 F.R.D.158 160(D.D.C. 2013). Nothing
preventedJSDA from designating Rawls in a timely manne3ee id. Thus, having recognized
the importance of establishing that the PRB treated Plaintiff anddifferently for a non
discriminatory reason, USDA canngénunely claim to have been unfairly surprised whan
trial, Plaintiff pointed to the PRB evaluationprocess as proof sgexdiscrimination. The court
thereforefinds that USDA'’s contention that it suffered unfair surprise is without tmeri

ii. Inconsistent verdict

That leaves Defendant’s second ground for seeking a new trial undeb®iumternal
inconsistencies in the jury’s verdictSeeDef.’s Mot. at 3631. “Claims that a jury verdict is
inconsistent impose a special obligation on the court to view \tlokeeree in a manner that
reconciles the verdicts if possible, and to grant a new trial .if Riaicomb v. Wood¥67 F.Supp.
2d 123, 132 (D.D.C. 2011) (quotimtundley v. District of Columbjad94 F.3d 1097, 1102 (D.C.
Cir. 2007));cf. Gallick v. Baltimore & Ohio R.R. Co372 U.S. 108, 119 (1963)[[]t is the duty
of the courts to attempt to harmonize the answers, if it is pessitnler a fair reading of them:
Where there is a view of the case that makes thesjanswers to special interrogatories consistent,
they must be resolved that way.” (internal quotation marks omitteti)]uccessful claims of

verdict inconsistency are rare,’ arising only when the jury has reachetusions that ‘cannot

6 While Halcombanalyzed inconsistencies in the jgryerdict as a ground for new trigee767 F. Supp. 2d at 132,
the court notethat in Hundley the D.C. Circuit addressed this question through the lens of Férigeabf Civil
Procedure 49(b), which specifies when an answer to a written questiaa ihednsistent with the jury's general
verdict may warrant a new triaSee Hundley494 F.3d at 1102; Fed. R. Civ. P. 49(bX3).
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reasonably be reconciled or sustaineddalcomh 767 F. Supp. 2d at 13alteration in original)
(quotingHundley 494 F.3d at 1102).

In this casethe Verdict Form asked the jurors a series of questiorigstlasked whether
USDA removed Plaintiff from her SES position “because of inb@atidiscrimination basagon
her sex.” Verdictrorm { 4. If the answer wasyes, the jury was asked to decide whether
Plairtiff's sex was a determinativiactoror a motivating factor in USDA'’s decisionSee id{ 5.

If the jury chose “determinative factor,” it proceeded straight to tlestaqun of damages; if the
jury chose “motivating factor,” it was directed to answerfthlewing question:

Although Plaintiff Denise Banks’s sex was a motivating faator i

the USDA'’s decision to remove her from her SES position, would

the USDA have removed her from the position even if her sex had

played no role in its decision?
Id. § 6. If the answer to that question was “no,” the jury was then instrugtedter an award of
money damagesld. I 7. The jury here did exactly as instructed firdgt foundPlaintiff's sex to
bea motivating, but not determinative, factor in USDA’s dem. Seed. § 5. It then considered
the question quoted abosadanswered it “no.”See idJ 6. It then proceeded to award $100,000
in damages.See idy 7.

According toUSDA, the jury’sanswers are inconsistent with one another bedhegary
found that “Plaintiffs gender was not the ‘but for’ cause of hanaén by rejecting it as a
‘determinative factor,” yesimultaneouslydecided that her demotion occurred because gender

played a role in the decisienr.e., gender was the but for reason for the decision.” Def.’s Mot.

at31. But there is no inconsistencyThe jury's answers clearly track the law of this Circuit
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governingsingle versus mixedotive case See Ponce679 F.3d at 845 As the Circuit has
explained:

In a mixedmotive caset2 U.S.C. 000e5(g)(2)(B) provides the
employer with a“limited affirmative defense that “does not
absolve it of liability, but restricts the remedies availableato
plaintiff.” More particularly, if the plaintiff makes out a violati

unde § 2000e2(m), but the defendahtlemonstrates that [it] would
have taken the same action in the absence of the impermissible
motivating factor, then thedistrict court may grant declaratory or
injunctive relief and attorney’s fees, bighall not awardlamages

or issue an order requiring any.reinstatement, hiring, promotion,

or payment.

Fogg v. Gonzales192 F.3d 447, 451 (D.C. Cir. 200&Alteratiors in original) (citations omitted).
The jurys verdictis entirely consistentvith this mixed-motive standard. After toncluded that
Plaintiff's sexwas a motivating factor in her demotjahe jury then answed whetherUSDA
would have taken that same action “in the absence of the impermissitiatmg factor.” It
answered that questi “no.” Thus,USDA manufactures an internal tension that does not exist.
Neverthelesd,JSDA furtherinsists thathe jury’s “illogical and conflicting results” cannot
be explained by the shifting burdens of proof, as Plaintiff claimsausé[t]he jury is not learned
in jurisprudence regarding burdens of proof and the verdict &ssigns no burdens in presenting
the questions for the jury’s ceideration.” Def.’s Reply at 23ut that argument ignores the jury
instructions delivered by Judge Rolserfs relevant here, the instiimns provided:
Ms. Banks presents two theories as to how the USDA
intentionally discriminated against her. .
To show that . . sex was @eterminative factqrthe plaintiff
must showhat if not for her. . .sex, thedefendant would not have
made itsemployment decision about her..
.. .[Y]ou should find for Ms. Banks if you find that the
USDA’s explanation is not the true reason and that but for
intentional discrimination based on Ms. Banks'’s . . . sex, theAJSD
would not have removed Ms. Banks from her SES position in 2000.

To show that..sex was amotivating factor in the
defendant’s decision, the plaintiff. . .must only prove that
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her. . .sex played an actual or substantial role in the defendant’s
decisiors even though other factors may also have motivated the
defendant.
In order for you to find for the plaintifthe plaintiff must
prove by a preponderance of the evidetiz one or more USDA
officials intentiorally discriminated against he . .
If you find that. . .sex was a determinative fac in the
defendant’s decision. .then you must determine an amount that is
fair compensation for the plaintiff's damages.
If you find that the plaintf's . . .sex was a motivatingut
not a determinative factor in the defendargis\ploymentdecision,
then you must decide whether the plaintiff is entitled to damages.
The plaintiff is not entitled to damag#she defendant proves by a
preponderance of the evidentkat it would lave treated the
plaintiff the same even if the plaintiff's. .sex had played no role
in the employment decision.
Instructiors at 1113, 15(emphasis addedyee alsoTrial Tr. at 61614. These instructions
provided the jurywith the roadmap it needed to resolve the parties’ dispute. The instsicti
clearly distinguished between Plaintiff's two theories of disgration andidentified the party
that shouldered the burden of prasfto each theoryTherefore, the instructions providad the
“lurisprudence” necessaty resolve Plaintiff'ssexdiscrimination claim.
* * *
For the foregoing reasons, theuct denies Defendant’s Motioorf Judgment as a Matter
of Law a, in the Alternative,dr a New Trial.
1. PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR EQUITABLE RELIEF
Having prevailed at trial, Plaintiff now seeks equitable religf. her Motion, Plaintiff
seeks(1) reinstatement to tHeES (2) back pay, and (3heremoval of any reference to her 2000

demotion from her Official Personnel Fil&ee generally?l.’'s Am. Mot. USDA concedgethat,

under the circumstancesxpungingPlaintiffs demotion from her record is amppropriate
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equitable remedySeeDef.’s Opp’n at 3 n.3. Thus, only reinstatement and back pay areeat issu
The court will address eaa$suein turn.

A. Reinstatement

District courts have wide discretion to award equitable relief undex Vil including
reinstatementBarbour v. Merrill, 48 F.3d 1270, 1278 (D.C. Cir. 1995geid. at 127942 U.S.C.
§ 2000e5(g)(1). “The district court should fasm this relief so as to provide a victim of
employment discrimination the most complete mak®le relief possible.”Barbour, 48 F.3d at
1278 In Title VII cases, reinstatement is generally the “preferred remesige’ Webb v. District
of Columbia 146 F.3d 964, 976 (D.C. Cir. 1998). As with any general rule, however, tieere a
exceptions. Becaus@ successful Title VII plaintiff ientitled only to appropriate equitable
relief,” id. (citing 42 U.S.C. § 20008(g)(1)), the cout must “careful[ly] conger[]. . .the
circumstances of [each] particular case” to determine whether reinstateaygmopriateid. For
example, the court may consider “evidence of extreme animosity betweg@athtiff and the
defendant employer,” or “evidence that the &vyer is genuinely dissatisfied with the plaintiff's
job performance.”Banks 958 F. Supp. 2dt 83 (internal quotation marks omittefiting Webh
146 F.3d at 977). Ultimately, the court’s discretion must be “guided Unydslegal principles”
and “measured against the purposes whiabrmfTitle VII,” including to “make persons whole
for injuries suffered on account of unlawful discriminatioAlbemarle Paper Co. v. Moogd#22
U.S. 405, 41618 (1975).

USDA opposesPlaintiff's reinstatement, citing her poor performance as a supervisory
employeewnhile she was in the SES and thereafi®ef.’s Opp’n at 3,#18. In addition to evidence
related to Plaintiff's performance as an SES member, USDA offalerme of “significant issues

with [Plaintiff's] supervisory performance” followghher demotion in 2000ld. at 8. According
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to USDA, Plaintiffhasbeen tasked witbupervisory duties four different positions: (i) Chief of
the Policy Division (20042005); (i) Chief of the Employee Complaints Division (262807);
(ii)) Director of the Data and Records Management Division (22092); and (iv) Director of the
Corporate Services Div@an (2012-2013). Id. at 8. Yet, in each of those positions, USDA
contends, her work has been criticizéd. at 8. Her purportedsupervisory deficienciell into
three main categories. First, USDA contends that Plaintiff'slufies to provide timely
performance evaluations and plans to her subordinates haviawsohtsince her demotion.Id.
Second, USDA argues that Plaintiff has continued to show “hellitgeds a supervisor to ensure
that EEO case materials are properly maintained and orgaaiaéidw for the proper functioning
of the agency’s EEO activitiesld. at 10. Third, USDA citesPlaintiff's “failure[] to communicate
essential information to her supervisordd. at 13. As to each of these pointdSDA citesto
multiple evaluationsg-mails, and letterselatingto events that have occurred since 19PRintiff,
for her part,vigorouslypushes back against USDA'’s criticism of Iseipervisoryperformance.
See generall?l.’s Reply to Def.’s Opp’n to Mot. for Reinstatement, Back Pay,Gledn Record,
ECF No. 178 [hereinafter Pl.’s Reply].

The court does not attemph the present postureto resolve whether Plaintiff is an
outstanding supervisor, meredygood one, oterrible at supervising other employees. Nor does
it need to. What the court takes awaym the evidence submitted by the parties is that Plaintiff
is, atthe veryleast, a competent federal employee wba hasserved formore than 3%earsin
federal service While surelyshe has made mistakesvho hasn’'t2-she is a respected colleague

who is viewed as a positive contributor to the agency’s mis§itantiff has been rated “Superior”

7 Although the court asked whether either party wished to have amtaigehearing on the appropriateness of
reinstatement as a remedy, both parties declined the iomit&8eeHr’g Tr. (draft), Oct. 5, 2017, a7-48, 54-56.
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or “Outstanding” in 14 out of the 17 years since her demoiti@iyding the time she served as
Chief of the Policy Division from 2004 to 2005 and as Director of Dia¢a and Records
Management Divisiofrom 2009 to 2014-two of the periods during which Defendant alleges her
supervisory performance was deficieml.’s Reply at 3 cf. Def.’s Ex. MM at 898 While the
three years for which she received a “fully successful’ rating admittedly weaoelpén which
she held a supervisory position, Plaintiff's performance apgisaisdicate that she has been rated
positivdy on four separate occasions when serving in a supervisory cap&agpef.’s Ex. MM

at 4 (superior for FY2005);id. at 89 (outstanding for FY2010 and FY 2011); Pl.'Reply, Ex.

23, ECF No. 1781 [hereinafter Pl.’s Ex. 23putstanding for FY2016). Notably, Plaintiff has
never been rated below “fully successfuPl.’s Reply at 3seeDef.’s Ex. MM. More recently,

in June 2016, USDAssigned her to a new supervisory position, Deputy Director of thee@iffi
Adjudication. Pl.’s Replyat 2;see alscPl.’s Reply, Ex. 31, ECF Nd.789, at 106-08. In this
role, she received a summary rating of “outstanding” in her 2016 penfearappraisalSeePl.’s

Ex. 23 The court doubts that USDA would continue to put Plaintiff in positiof spervisory
authority if her management aadministration skillsvere as poor as USDA now sugges(.
Kapche v. Holder677 F.3d 454465 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (statinghat “as a general rule. . neither
reinstatement nor front pay is an appropriate rgfméthe employer has aftesicquired evidence

of wrongdoing ‘of such severity that the employedact would have been terminated on those

8 The court makes two clarifications here. First, there is no perfomzpraisal for the period during which Plaintiff
served as Chief of the Policy DivisioseeDef.’s Ex. MM. At least for purposes of back pay, USDA has conceded
that it will treat Plaintiff's performance as “Outstandings it has been unable to locate Plaintiff's 2004 appraisal.
Def.’s Exs., Ex. PP, ECF No. 174, at n.1. The court finds rmeason to assume otherwise for purposelseof
reinstatement, or at least no reason to adopt USDA’s argunaiitethperformanceas sukpar during this period,
becausédefendant does not point to any record evidencgupport such a conclusiorseeDef.’s Opp’'n at #15.
Second, while Plaintiff is correct that she received “outstafidatings during the 2062010 and 2012011 years
when sheserved ashe Director of the Bta andRecordsManagemenbivision, seeDef.’s Ex. MM at 89, the court
notes that she was the Director until August 208€eDef.’s Exs.,Ex. J, ECF No. 1780, at 56. During the 2011
2012 appraisal period, she received a rating of “Fully Successful.”s [Bef. MM at 10.
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grounds alone if the employer would have known of it at the timéeotitscharge™ (quoting
McKennon v. Nashville Banner Publ’'g C613 U.S. 352, 3653 (1995)).

In the end, what USDA asks the court to dmisountenanceontinuing to denylaintiff
a senior status thahe once had earned and enjoyed)dsidue to sex discrimination. The court
will not do so. The court therefore grants Plaintiff's request for reinstatemehetS8ES.

B. Back Pay

Plaintiff also seeks “back pay in the amount of $701,025 as of Decenf@t@,plus any
accrued back pay to the date of judgment and prejudgment interesTagéisury rate.” P5’Am.
Mot. at 1. To understand how Plaintiff reached gwenshe seeks, as well as USDA'’s objections
to such an award, some background is necessary.

In Plaintiff's initial motion for equitable relieeeECF No. 161, she relied uptimeexpert
opinion of financial analystloseph RosenbergSeeJoint Motion for Discovery and to Extén
Briefing Schedule on Pl.’s Requests for Equitable Relief, ECF Nq.at@ Becuse Plaintiff did
not discloge Rosenberg as a potential expert or produce certain Office of Perstamagement
reports during discovery, USDA sought to strike the expert report ansclomid documentSee
id. In order to resolve the dispute and eliminate any prejudice caused byfflaimtimely
disclosuresthe court granted the parties’ request t@pen discovery with regard to Plaintiff's
requests for equitable relief for a period of 75 d&yseid.; Order, ECF No. 163.

During thisdiscovery period, Rosenbetignely amended his original report twie@nce
on July 27, 2016see Pl’'s Am. Mot., Ex. 6, ECF No. 170 [hereinafterSecond Rosenberg
Report], and again on August 23, 20afier he was deposed by USDs&eDef.’s Opp’n, EX. EE,
ECF No. 17531 [hereinafter Rosenberg TrR].’s Am. Mot., Ex. 7ECF No. 1762 [hereinafter

Third RosenbergRepot]. More than a month after thextendeddiscovery period closed,
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Rosenberdiled another amended report, dated December 8, Date Rosenberg Report”See
Order, ECF No. 165, at 1 (setting October Z®16, as deadline for close of discoveBf);s Am.
Mot., Ex. 8, ECF No. 173 [herenafter Late Rosenberg ReporiThe court, howevegexcluded
the Late Rosenberg Report as untimélylding that the Third Rosenberg Report would be the
operative expenteport. SeeHr’g Tr. (draft), Oct. 5, 2017, at 4@Becausehis ruling cameafter
the close of briefingPlaintiff's back pay calculation is based tre Late Rosenberg Report,
includingits $701,025 computation of back pageePl.’s Am. Mot. at1; Late Rosenberg Report
at 23

USDA raises aost of objections related to Rosenberg’s computation of backdayg
Late Report some of whiclpresumablyapply to the Third Rosenberg Repoiin calculating
Plaintiff's back pay Defendant relies on an annotated demonstrative exiiith “correcfs]’
anyassumptions that the agency contends are flawed.’'s Opp’n at 26.0therwisejt uses the
assumptions underlying tlealculations of the “most probable scenario” in Therd Rosenberg
Report. Seeid.; Def.’s Exs.,Ex. PR ECFNo. 17541 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. PP|Based orits
calculations, USDA argues thdtet maximum amount of back p#yat Plaintiff is entitled tois
$280,699.03.SeeDef.’s Oppn at 18;Def.’s Ex. PP.The Third Rosenberg Report, by contrast,
calculated a total 0$625,384 in back pabased on the “most probable scenari®G&eThird
Rosenberg Report a8, 22°

Based on the present record and the parties’ briefs, the court-caambshould net

attempt to calculate a final back pay awahastead, the court will resolve USDA'’s obj@ns to

9 Because the court finds reinstatement is an appropeatedy here, it does not consider the substitute remedy of
front pay. Cf. Pollard v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & C632 U.S. 843, 850, 852001). Hence, the total award for
the “most probable scenari® less thai$722,711, which Rosenberg reachedatidingthe total front and back pay
award together SeeThird Rosenberg Report at 22.
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Rosenberg’s analysis aielve it to the parties to propose an appropriate award in lighteo
court’s rulings.
1. Mitigating income calculation

To begin USDA objects to the sourcef the numbersused to calculatd®laintiff's
mitigating income—that is, the amount of income Plaintiff has received since her demioti
2000. SeeDef.’s Opp’n at 2323. In preparinghis Second Report, Rosenbadgntified Plaintiff
as the source for her actual compensatiom 2000 to 2008, whithetestified was derived from
Bank’s pay stubs or VZ tax forms. Id. at 21-22; see alsoSecond RosenbergeRBort at 17;
Rosenberg Tr. at 9®1. In his Third Report, however, Rosenberg used the rates of pay set forth
in SF50s containedn Plaintiff's enployment file. Def.’s Opp’n at 22 (citing Third Rosenberg
Report) seePl.’s Am. Mot. at 1415. His Late Report, however, revetiackto Plaintiff's W-2
tax forms, as well as an income statement from the Social Securitynisthatiion, to tally
mitigating income. Def.’s Opp’n at 2Zciting Late Rosenberg Report at PSDA argues that
even thoughRosenbergestified that using Plaintiff's SB0sto fix Plaintiffs annual income
would be “more accurate,” his Late Repaalieson the less accurate source of ddth. USDA
insists that the SB0s’income figures be used to tabulate mitigating incoideat 25.

This objection is largely moohowever. The court has since excluded the Late Rosenberg
Report andUSDA admits that th@ hird Report‘us[es] the ‘more accurate’ rates set[\SDA]
and reflected on Banks's &0s as the source of mitigating incomeld. at 22, 25. Thus,
Plaintiff's mitigating income should be calculated based orbtimeises andalary rates sdbrth
in Banks’ SF50sor other relevant record contained in her official personrel flee idat 25.

The partiesalso should assume that Plaintiff did not receive any bonuses @i@005 in
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calculating her mitigating ineoe, given the lack of any SB0s in her file reflecting such bonuses.
SeeDef.’s Ex. PP at n.7.
2. Pay not received due to administrative error

USDA also takes issue witthhe incomefigures that Rosenberg used from 2003 to 2007
This objection relates to an administrative error #pdarentlyresulted in a discrepancy between
the pay Plaintiff received and the pay set by US[B&eDef.’s Opp’n at 23. From 2003 to 2008
Plaintiff's salary set by the Office of Civil Rightdid notincreaseeven as he6GS pay levels
increased.ld. Instead, Plaintiff's salary remained fixed at $125,246 per yiearIn September
2008, Plaintiff raised tk issue with her supervisorSeeDef.’s Exs., Ex. JJ, ECF No. 1-35.
USDA then issued a ges of SF52 formsto harmonize Plaintiff's salary for 2003 to 200&he
corresponding appropriate &5, step 10, salary fahose yearsSeeDef.’s Oppn at 23;Def.’s
Exs., Ex. KK, ECF No. 17/37. USDA also amendetthe SF50s in Plaintiff's official personnel
file to reflectthe changes Def.’s Opp’n at 23. While Plaintiff received the safalifferential
paymentfor the 2008 calendar year, she claims she did not retiegepayments for2003 to
2007.SeeDef.’s Exs., Ex. J, ECF No. 178 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. J]at 88-89. $e seekso
recoup those sumsereby calculating a salary mitigation figure that reflects lgsserincome
actually received, as opposed to ¢fneateincome she should have received per her corrected SF
50s. SeeDef.’s Opp’n at 2324;cf. Pl's Am. Mot. at 1415. USDA opposes that request. It
argues that Plaintiff is not entitled to back pay from 2003 to 2007 totéetesuch pay arises out
of the administrative errors. Such errors, USDA contends, are unredadairitiff's demotion
SeeDef.’s Opp’n at 2324. The courtagrees.

In considering appropriate equitable relief, the court’s goal “is toneshe plaintiff], as

nearly as possible, to the circumstans#®] ‘would have occupied if the wrong had not been
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committed.”” Caudle v. District of Columbja825 F. Supp. 2d 73, 1®.D.C. 2011) (quoting
Lander v. Lujan888 F.2d 153, 156 (D.C. Cir. 1989)Here, the “wrongPlaintiff suffered was
demotion motivated byliscriminatoryanimus. There is noconnectionbetween Plaintiff's
demotionin 2000and the loss oihcome she sufferefilom 2003 to 200due to adminisative
errors'® Thus, Plaintiffsback pay awardghould notaccount for suchunrelated payerrors.
Instead, as stated above, Plaintiff's mitigating income should belatdd by the rates set forth in
her SF50s.
3. Projected compensation

USDA's remaining objections relate to Rosenberg’s calculation of tRfamrojected
compensationi.e., the income that she could have expected to earshgadot been wrongfully
removed from her SES positiofirst, USDA attacks the premise of the “most probablehacio
relied upon by RosenbergSeeDef.’s Opp’n at 25. Under this scenar®aintiff would have
received‘outstanding or “exceeds expectians™!! ratings each year since her demotion in 2000.
Id.; seeThird Rosenberg Report at3. AsUSDA points out, however, Plaintiff “did not receive
such glowing reviews” in less demanding positions at thel&'$0 level. Def.’s Opp’n at 25.
Thus, the court agrees that it was improperRosenbergo assumehat Plaintiff would have
received such ratings as an SES member, when in fact she had not rewiviecher positions

at the GS15/10 level. Plaintiffs back pay awardnsteadshould be based on her actual

10 plaintiff claims she has “availed herself of every avenue hkrtovher to have USDA correctelunderpayment,”
Pl.’s Reply at 12, and testified that these claims were part ohstent actionseeDef.’s Ex. J at 9492. Assuming
that to be true, Plaintiff still cannot dispute that on the eve of trial, dbataaly dismissed “all issues in th[e] case
except whether BDA dscriminated against [helbdased on her race and sexen it removed her in 2000 from her
[SES] position. . .and demoted her to a &5 position.” PIs Mot. for Partial Voluntary Dismissal and Mot. in
Limine, ECF No. 80, at lseeMem. Op. & Order, ECF No. 88Additionally, the court takes no position on USDA'’s
argument that the statutory time period to recover unpaid salanydwapassed.

1 The SESystem uses the term “ExceedgEctations” instead dSuperior’to describe the second highest appraisal
score. SeeDef.’s Ex. PP atn.1.
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performance rating for the year in questioRor examplejn 2006, 2007, and 2012, Plaintiff
received a “fully successful” ratingSeeDef.’s Ex. MM at 56, 10. Accordingly, during those
years, Plaintiff's projectedcompensatiorshould be based otihe estimated salary and award
distributions for USDA career SE®ployees with dfully successful'rating.

SecondUSDA argues thaRosenberg“based on no authority whatsoever([,] projected that
[Plaintiff]l would have eceived elevations in [Executive Sched®&] levels under the prior SES
pay system each year from 2000 to 2004.” Def.’s Opp’'n ad&ef.’s Exs., Ex. HH, ECF No.
175-34 at 19-23; see alsorhird Rosenberg Report at 10 (“For years 2003, step ioreases
from ES1 to ES4 were assumed for all legel . .Salaries in 2004 weretnavailable and so were
averaged between the 2003 and 2005 salaries for each leRelsgnberg Trat 55(explaining
that the 2004 average was based, in part, on “what she would have earned asiar2&8").
According toUSDA, under the old E®ased SES pay system, promotions from ondek& to
the next (with a corresponding pay increase) did not caslrosenberg assumes. Def.’s Opp’n
at 25. Specifically, Patricia Moore, Director of Executive ResourcddS®A, testifiedthat from
2000 to 2003, SES employees did not progress like angffoyeewould expect to under the
grading system, provided tingierformance was satisfactory. Def.’s Exx, EN, ECF No. 175
39 [hereinafter Def.’s Ex. NN]at 26-27; seePl.’s Am. Mot. at 13. Instead, supervisors could
make recommendations to the Board based upon the employee’s performdrhe, Bmard and
ultimately the Secretary would have “sole discretiornto give them that progression to the next
level.” Def.’s Ex. NNat 27.Importantly an SES employee who received a rating of “outstanding”
would not necessarily progress to the next lel@lat Z7—28. Under the old system, progression

was based upon a number of factams|uding the structure of the office.ld. at 28 As Moore
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testified: “If my boss was an E8, he probably wasn’t going to give me, as a subordinate, an ES
5. So it was basenh the position as well as my performancéd”

Based on thisuncontestedtestimony, the court agrees that Plaintiff's projected
compensatioshould notest ontheassumption that her ES level would have increased each year
from 2000 to 2003. To hold lm¢rwise would require speculatiot only that Plaintiff would
have received high performance ratings during these,ymdralso that a myriad of other factors
existedto warrant the level increas&uch speculation cannot form the basis of a baclapayd.

Finally, USDA objects to Rosenberg’s projected salary increfases2010 to 2013, as
SES salaries were frozen during this petigdExecutive Order.SeeDef.’s Opp’n at 25 (noting
2013 freeze); Def.’s Ex. PP at n.2 (“For years 2010 to 2013, USdDwod project a salary increase
because all SES salaries were frozen by OPM during this period of)timBo the extent
Rosenberg does not account for such pay freezes in his Third Rejgodaldulations are
inaccurate. Plaintiff's back pay should reflect such pay free3ee generallpef.’s Exs., K.
OO, ECF No. 17810 (2013 OPMJMemorandum)Freezeon Pay Adjustments for Federal Civilian
EmployeesU.S. Office of Pers. Mgmt.Oec. 30, 201)) https://www.chcoc.gov/content/freeze
pay-adjustmentdederaicivilian-employees (200 OPM Memorandum).

The foregoing rulings obviously change #malysesvith respecto back pay, and the court
IS in a poor position to attempt to calculate how those rulings afffectultimate award.
Accordingly, the court directs the partiesmeet ad confer and attempt to reach a resolution on
the amount of back pay in light of the court’s rundn updating the back pay calculations, the
parties shall also take into account the year 284 Wvellany amountshat would be du& herin

2018 “through the date of judgmentSeeBarbour, 48 F.3d afl279.
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V. CONCLUSION AND ORDER

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’s Motion for Judgment astarMat.aw or, in the
Alternative, for a New Trial is denied, aRdaintiffs Amended Motion for Reinstatement, Back
Pay, and Clean Record is granted in part and denied in part.

The parties shall meet and confer and, no later 3@aaays from this date, file a Joint
Status Report indicatinghether the parties have agreed on a total baclkmpayntin light of the
court’s rulings. If the parties cannot agree on a back pay award, the Report shallcgligcifi
identify any disputesver calculationso that the court can make a final determination.

The court will entefinal judgment in this matter upon resolution of the back pay award.

The parties shall present the courthvd draft order.

A s

Dated: February22, 2018 Amit P a
United States Districludge

37



